1984

Woodruff Ashton v. Wilford Ashton And Virginia Ashton : Brief of Appellants

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT DID NOT MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROOF ON ANY LEGAL OR FACTUAL ISSUE OF THE CASE.

A. The evidence does not warrant creating a property interest by a constructive trust, by virtue of failure of the Respondent to meet the elements of a resulting or constructive trust.

B. Interest in real property is for good reasons.

carefully created and preserved. Respondent's evidence in this case does not rise to the level of creating resulting or constructive trust, by its burden of clear and convincing evidence as articulated in this Court's case of Carnesecca v Carnesecca, 752 P.2d 708.

There is, of course, the intervention of equity, where the legal elements are lacking, but in the instant action, the quantum of respondent's proof falls far short of that which is required to sustain an equitable remedy.

There can be little disagreement that "real estate is presumed to be owned by the one in whose name the record title stands." Ward v Ward, 172 p.2d 978, 987 (Okla. 1946), Jacobson v Jacobson, 557 P.2d 156, 158 (Utah 1976).

At trial, Plaintiff/Respondent Woodruff Ashton relied in chief, as to his evidence that a constructive or resulting trust was created in his favor, essentially upon the admissions of his brother, Wilford Ashton, which purportedly took place during a family gathering on December 13, 1968.

Plaintiff/Respondent Woodruff Ashton testified that on the day of his brother Frank's funeral, while the family was gathered for a family meal, that his brother Wilford stated in the kitchen of Wilford's home, "I promised Frank that I would give Cub (nickname for Plaintiff/Respondent Woodruff) the east half of the field" (referring to the east half of the property held in joint tenancy by Wilford and Virginia

Ashton as was conveyed by Frank Ashton on 18 November 1949
(TT: 35, 25 Ibid - 36, 1)

In substance, Plaintiff/Respondent's sister, Agnes Connell, his nephew Robert Connell, and his nephew Gary Ashton confirm that in substance Wilford Ashton had made the statement. Defendant/Appellant Wilford Ashton has no particular memory or recollection of the date in question or the facts and circumstances surrounding his alleged statement, but did deny promising any conveyance of said property. (TT: 277, 19).

Defendants/Appellants admit that due to the passage of some fourteen (14) years, that they are unable to recall the facts and circumstances at the time of the purported statement, but both Wilford Ashton and Virginia Ashton deny that such a statement was made. (TT: 277, 19 and 364, 12-16).

If, however, this court was to view the alleged admission by a party opponent, in its most favorable light to Respondent there would simply not be enough evidence of a clear and convincing nature that would warrant a jury finding of a resulting trust in favor of Plaintiff/Respondent.

If this court views the transcript, it is just as possible to conclude that the statement, if any statement was made, which is denied by Defendants/Appellants, such a statement would be nothing more than a mere gratuitous offer

on the part of Defendant/Appellant Wilford Ashton. There is no evidence that the decedent, Frank Ashton, required or solicited a promise or detrimentally relied thereon from Wilford Ashton as a condition of conveying the property in joint tenancy to Wilford and Virginia Ashton in 1968.

Presumably, evidence at the time of the execution of the Deed would have shed light upon whether or not Frank Ashton, decedent and grantor, required some type of promise or precondition in the conveyance of said deed.

Ironically, the attorney who drafted and notarized the deed of joint tenancy from Frank Ashton to Wilford and Virginia Ashton, was Phillip L. Foremaster, now Attorney for Plaintiff/Respondent. At trial, Defendants/Appellants specifically waived any potential conflict of interest and called Phillip L. Foremaster as a defense witness.

Mr. Foremaster testified, under oath, and understandably so, that he had no independent recollection of the conveyance of 18 November 1968. Defendant/Appellant Wilford Ashton testified with particular clarity that the deed was drafted by Attorney Phillip L. Foremaster, that his brother Frank signed the deed in the presence of Mr. Foremaster, as is evidenced by Mr. Foremaster's notary seal. (TT: 277, where Mr. Ashton testified that the decedent, Frank Ashton, Grantor, did not place any preconditions upon the execution of said

deed.

Mr. Foremaster, while denying any independent recollection, does concede, on page 271 of the trial transcript, that he may very well have drafted the deed and notarized the signature of the decedent, Grantor Frank Ashton.

It would stretch the imagination to believe that an attorney of the caliber, competency, and experience of Phillip L. Foremaster would have drafted and executed a deed in his presence that was preconditioned to be conveyed to a third party. It would follow, therefore, that since the only evidence of the resulting or constructive trust at the time of the making of the deed is the evidence rendered by Defendant/Appellant Wilford Ashton that the burden of proof of clear and convincing evidence simply fell far short as required by law.

The Honorable Justice Wolfe, in the case of Greener v Greener, 212 p.2d 194 (Utah 1949), eloquently defines the clear and convincing standards, and explains the legal confusion which will result when it is abandoned:

That proof is convincing which carries with it, not only the power to persuade the mind as to the probable truth or correctness of the fact it purports to prove, but has the element of clinching such truth or correctness. Clear and convincing proof clinches what might be otherwise only probably to mind.

We have no measuring rod to lay alongside of the proof to ascertain whether it meets the various tests signified by the terms, "barely" or "merely" or "slightly" preponderating" or "fairly", "greatly" or "overwhelmingly prepondering", nor can we measure the content of such terms as clear and convincing

measure the content of such terms as clear and convincing "beyond a reasonable doubt" (which we take to mean the same as free from reasonable doubt), "unquestionably convincing." These terms deal with states of mind and to a degree vary as to the content put into them as minds vary. They all have implicit in them the idea of comparativeness, each with another's standards, signify more or less degrees of proof.

But for a matter to be clear and convincing to a particular mind, it must at least have reached the point where there remains no serious or substantial doubt as to correctness of the conclusion. A mind which was of the opinion that it was convinced and yet which entertained, not a slight, but reasonable doubt as to the correctness of its conclusion, would seem to be in a state of confusion. This means that more than the usual modicum of evidence is required to meet the clear and convincing evidence standard of Jewell v Horner, 366 P.2d 594 (Utah 1961).

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RENDERED JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT AS TO ANY CONVEYANCE, OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, AS TO THE CONVEYANCE OF THE WHOLE PARCEL OF PROPERTY CONVEYED BY THE DECEDENT, THE COURT THEREBY CONVEYING PROPERTY BELONGING TO VIRGINIA ASHTON AS WELL.

The property was conveyed in joint tenancy to Wilford and Virginia Ashton, husband and wife, as joint tenants.

It is well settled in Utah that a spouse who holds a deed in joint tenancy with his or her spouse, only has right as to one-half of the subject property.

Section 30-2-1 Utah Code Annotated as Amended 1953, WIFE'S RIGHT TO PROPERTY -- LIABILITY FOR HUSBAND'S DEBT states.

Real and personal estate of every female acquired before marriage, and all property to which she may afterwards become entitled to by purchase, gift, grant, inheritance, bequest or devise, shall be and remain the estate and property of such female and not be liable for the debts, obligations, or engagements of her husband, and may be conveyed, devised or bequeathed by her as if she were unmarried.

Since on November 18, 1968. she was given property by the decedent, Frank Ashton, her brother-in-law, as a gift, her husband unilaterally does not have the right to give away her vested interest.

The record is totally void of any evidence in any shape or form, that shows that Virginia Ashton did anything that would remotely create a constructive or resulting trust in favor of the Respondent. (TT: 364, 12-16).

Not only does Utah's statutory authority hold the proposition that the independent rights of a joint tenant spouse but the same is well settled on the subject by Utah cases.

Where a husband and wife hold property so acquired as joint owners, either may transfer his interests in the property so held without affecting the interest of the other. Since the rights of each spouse are alienable, any purchaser or encumbrancer does not become a joint tenant in the property, but becomes a tenant in common with the remaining spouse. Clearfield State Bank v J. G. Contos, 562 P.2d 611.

The law in Utah clearly states that a joint tenant

cannot dispose of more than his interest in joint tenancy property, i.e., one-half (1/2) thereof. Tracy-Collins Trust Company v Goeltz, 5 Utah 2d 350, 301 P.2d 1086 (1956). Appellants do not concede that there is a quantum of evidence to find clear and convincing evidence as against Defendants/Appellants, but would advance totally that the trial court erred in finding that the whole of the subject property conveyed by the grantor, decedent Frank Ashton, would be subject to the alleged promise or precondition creating a resulting trust in favor of Plaintiff/Respondent.

To follow the legal analysis in joint tenancy, based upon the sheer weight of authority, both in the State of Utah and elsewhere had Defendant/Appellant Wilford Ashton died at any point prior to the instigation of this action, then it would follow that she would have taken, under the rights of survivorship of joint tenancy, her fee simple interest in the subject property, not subject to the claims of the instant action.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT SUA SPONTE.
THE COURT DID NOT ALLOW THE TESTIMONY OF
AN EXPERT WITNESS, STIPULATED AS TO
QUALIFICATION BY PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT'S
COUNSEL.

Mr. Lowry Snow, an attorney, and President of a title company, was called by Defendants/Appellants as a witness to

explain as to technical matters of conveyance by deed. The Court Sua Sponte, cut off Mr. Snow's testimony. (TT. 403-407).

Defendants/Appellants' counsel then used the questions and answers method to attempt to get the Court to allow the testimony to come in. It is advanced by Defendants/ Appellants that Mr. Snow's testimony was absolutely vital as to the technical matters so that the jury could well understand the effects of the various deeds and conveyances that were pertinent to the instant action.

Defendants/Appellants counsel attempted to inform the court as to the net effect of a subsequent conveyance, would have terminated the joint tenancy relationship (i.e., when, if at all, respondents interest vested), that Defendant/Appellant Virginia Ashton would not have given up her rights but that the joint tenancy would have terminated and a tenancy in common would have materialized.

It would seem that the authorities are well settled that any attempt at conveyancing to a third party by a co-tenancy destroys the joint tenancy relationship.

Attempt was made during trial for Defendants/Appellants counsel to explain to the Court the net effect counsel was summarily cut off from his arguments and it appeared from the record that the Court failed to understand what Defendants/Appellants would advance is the status of the law as to a conveyance or an attempt to do so by one of the co-tenants. (TT. 409-410)

Section 95 of Volume 20 of Am Jur, 2d., articulates the well-settled law. "Since there is, merely by reason of the existence of a co-tenancy, no agency relationship between co-tenants, the courts are agreed that one co-tenant cannot ordinarily transfer or dispoae of the interest of another co-tenant in such a manner as to be binding, unless duly authorized to do so. Nor can a co-tenant, as a rule, bind his co-tenants by any unauthorized attempt to alienate or encumber the entire estate or any specific portion thereof, or any undivided interest in any such portion. In the absence of authorization or ratification on the part of his co-tenants, any dealings on the part of one co-tenant in relation to the common property is mere nullity insofar as their interests are concerned. On the other hand, and in accordance with well-settled rules stated elsewhere in this work, it is clear that an unauthorized act of the kind under consideration may be affirmed or ratified by the other co-tenants, or they may estop themselves by their conduct from questioning its validity, in which case it becomes as binding upon them as though they had joint therein. Mere failure to object to a transaction of this kind, however, does not necessarily preclude the non-consenting tenants from asserting their rights, and unless they have acquiesced therein in one

way or the other, there can be no basis for estoppel in pais.

Section 97 (supra) states under the heading of Sales and Conveyances: "Since the sale of a common property can be affected only by the joint or concurrent action of several co-owners, it is clear that in the absence of authorization or ratification any attempt at conveyance thereof by one tenant is not binding upon his co-tenants, and operates to pass title to nothing more than the sellers' own interest. This does not mean, however, that such a conveyance can safely be ignored; entry under a deed of this character and assertion of exclusive ownership thereunder, constitute an ouster, and the grantee, may, in time, acquire good title by adverse possession. In the case of real estate, the non-asserting co-tenant may, if he chooses not to ratify the sale, maintain an action of rejection against the purchaser to recover the property . . ." (Emphasis added).

Since no evidence was ever presented indicating that Defendant/Appellant Virginia Ashton ever ratified any purported conveyance by her husband, her portion of the joint tenancy estate would be free from any adverse claim since her husband did not have the power to convey any ownership interest in anything other than that which he owned at the time.

POINT IV

JUSTICE WOULD DEMAND A NEW TRIAL DUE
TO THE PHYSICAL INCAPACITY OF A MAJOR

PARTY WITNESS.

At the time of trial and during the time that he was testifying, Defendant/Appellant Wilford Ashton was under extreme physical duress. At the conclusion of his testimony, he was taken that very evening, by ambulance, to the Dixie Medical Center, where he was hospitalized and placed in the intensive care unit. Since neither Defendants were available at the time of final argument, Counsel for Defendants/Appellants, requests of the trial court that the court explain to the jury the absence of Defendants/Appellants. The Court simply stated to the jury that the Defendants were "Excused", thus creating the prejudicial inference that their absence was a mere excuse for not being present.

Counsel for Defendants/Appellants further request that the Court inform the jury of the physical nature of the illness, so as to preclude the prejudicial effect of the jury drawing any wrong conclusions. Defendants/Appellants candidly admit that they do not know what conclusions, if any, were drawn by any member of the jury, but it would seem logical that they could infer that Defendants/Appellants had so little interest in the case that they were conspicuously absent at the conclusion of the trial. Defendants/Appellants acknowledge that it is not the duty of the Supreme Court to weigh and consider the evidence at trial. However, it is noteworthy that the evidence in this case did not meet in any way its burden of proof.