1984

Woodruff Ashton v. Wilford Ashton And Virginia Ashton : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by Respondent against Appellants asking the trial court to impress a Constructive Trust for his benefit upon certain real property standing in the name of the Appellants located in Washington County, Utah or in the alternative claiming adverse possession on the part of Respondent and against Appellants regarding said property.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury. The Court submitted the matter to the jury on special interrogatories as follows and the jury answered as follows (R. 48):

INTERROGATORY NUMBER ONE: When Frank Ashton deeded the subject property to Wilford and Virginia M. Ashton, was his deeding conditional upon Wilford and Virginia deeding the East one-half of the property to Woodruff when Woodruff's marital problems had ended?

JURY'S ANSWER TO INTERROGATORY NUMBER ONE: Yes.

INTERROGATORY NUMBER TWO: Did a relationship of confidence and trust exist between Frank, Wilford and Virginia at the time of the deeding?

JURY'S ANSWER TO INTERROGATORY NUMBER TWO: Yes.

INTERROGATORY NUMBER THREE: Did Wilford and Virginia breach this relationship of trust, if any of you so find, by failing or refusing to deed to Woodruff following his divorce from Edith in 1980 with the result that Wilford and Virginia are thereby unjustly enriched?

JURY'S ANSWER TO INTERROGATORY NUMBER THREE: Yes.

Based upon the findings of the jury on the special interrogatories the Court entered Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law in conformance therewith (R. 49-54) and entered its judgement ordering the Appellants to Quit Claim the East one-half of the subject property together with one-half of the water on the whole property to Respondent (R. 55-56). From a verdict and judgement for the Respondent the Appellants have appealed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent requests that the Supreme Court affirm the verdict and judgement entered in the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent is the brother and brother-in-law of the Appellants Woodruff and Virginia M. Ashton (T. 5). The Respondent and Appellant Wilford Ashton had an older brother named Frank Ashton who died December 10, 1968 (T. 5). Prior to the death of Frank Ashton he owned a forty acre tract of real estate with two shares of irrigation water in or about Hurricane, Washington County, State of Utah (T. 6), but sold twelve acres of that property to a third party leaving a balance of twenty-eight acres plus the two shares of water standing in his name (T. 6). Prior to the death of Frank Ashton the Respondent helped him farm and place improvements on the subject property (T. 31, 32). In Addition, Frank had told the brothers' sister Agnes Connell, that he planned to give the property to his younger brothers Wilford and Woodruff upon his death (T. 174, 175, 176).

On November 18, 1968 Frank Ashton executed his Warranty Deed conveying title to the property to the Appellants as joint tenants (EX. 14).

Frank Ashton was buried on December 13, 1968 (T. 32) and on the same day the Ashton family met for a family dinner at the home of Appellant Wilford Ashton (T. 32, EX. P-40, P-41). At that time and place a conversation took place wherein the Appellant Wilford Ashton advised the family that he had received a deed to the subject property from Frank a few days prior to his death and that he had promised Frank, in consideration of the conveyance, that as soon as the Respondent solved his marital problem with his wife Edith, that he (Wilford) would convey the East half of the subject property and one-half of the water rights to the Respondent (T. 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 175).

In addition, the Appellant Wilford Ashton stated that as long as the Respondent was to get one-half of the property he should pay half of Frank's burial fees (T. 37) which the Respondent subsequently did (T. 38, EX. P-22, P-20).

Subsequent to this meeting the Respondent Woodruff Ashton became actively involved in cultivating the subject property (T. 41, 42, 43, 44, 75, 76, 77, 78, EX. P-9, P-5, P-1, P-10, P-8, P-6) and placed improvements on the East half of the subject property which he considered to be his (T. 45, 46). In addition the two brothers Wilford and Woodruff met at one time and arrived at an agreement as to how the subject property would be divided in accordance with Frank's wishes (T. 49, 50, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, EX. P-30) and placed certain markings showing their proposed division (T. 54, 55, 56, 57, EX. P-3, P-11). In addition during the fourteen years between the death of Frank Ashton until the present law suit was filed the Respondent paid one-half of the property taxes on the subject property and one-half of the water assessment on the subject property (T. 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73, 74, EX. P-19, P-1, P-17, P-18, P-21). Also, he placed certain improvements on the property consisting of a new barn, a corral, a loading chute, store house and shed (T. 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86) and a pond and residence (T. 87, 88).

During the passage of time the Respondent made requests to the Appellants to convey to him his share of the subject property but the Appellants refused to make such conveyance with the result that the Respondent had not yet solved his marital problems.

his wife Edith (T. 94, 95)

In October of 1980 the marital relationship between Edith and the Respondent was terminated by a Decree of Divorce (T. 95, 96, EX. P-15). Subsequent thereto the Respondent made request upon his brother to convey to Respondent the subject property, but the Appellant failed and refused to do so (T. 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104). During all of the time herein mentioned one-half of the water originally belonging to Frank Ashton was used by the Respondent to irrigate his claimed half of the subject real property (T. 106, 107).

ARGUMENT

POINT I: RESPONDENT MET HIS BURDEN OF PROOF IN PROVING A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST AGAINST APPELLANTS INVOLVING THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.

The doctrine of Constructive Trust has been recognized by the law for many years. The following is a statement of the doctrine set forth in the RESTATEMENT OF THE LAW OF TRUSTS at section 45:

- (1) Where the owner of an interest in land transfers it inter vivos to another in trust for a third person, but no memorandum properly evidencing the intention to create a trust is signed, and the transferee refuses to perform the trust, the transferee holds the interest upon a constructive trust for the third person, if, but only if,
 - (a) the transferee by fraud, duress or undue influence prevented the transferor from creating an enforceable interest in the third person, or
 - (b) the transferee at the time of the transfer was in a confidential relation to the transferor, or
 - (c) the transfer was made by the transferor in contemplation of death.

In addition Utah, for many years, has recognized the law

dealing with Constructive Trusts and the Supreme Court has upheld Constructive Trusts imposed by the Court; CARNESECCA (Utah 1977) 572 P. 2d 708; HAWS vs. JENSEN (Utah 1977) 209 P. 2d 229; MATTER OF ESTATE OF HOCK (Utah 1982) 655 P. 2d 511.

To set up Constructive Trusts under the circumstances we are presently dealing with the following must exist:

- a) a confidential relationship and arrangement between the parties to the arrangement must exist.
- b) There must be a conveyance of real estate to the Defendants.
- c) Facts showing breach of a confidence giving rise to unjust enrichment to the Defendants. 76 AM. JUR. 2d Sect. 221 et Seq Trust. HAWKINS vs. PERRY et al (Utah 1953) 253 P. 2d. 372 (see Haws vs. Jensen and Matter of Estate of Hock above); NIELSON vs RASMUSSEN (Utah 1976) 572 P. 2d 511.

An examination of the record in this case shows without being controverted that the Appellant Wilford Ashton made an agreement with his brother Frank that as soon as Woodruff solved his marital problems with Edith that Wilford would convey to Woodruff the East half of the subject property together with the appurtenant water right. The testimony of Woodruff Ashton, of Agnes Connell and of Gary Ashton is uncontroverted in this regard. In addition the fact that a conveyance of the real estate from Frank Ashton, the deceased brother, to Wilford and Virginia Ashton is uncontroverted. In addition it is uncontroverted that Wilford and Virginia Ashton have failed to meet their duty and have failed to make the conveyance as agreed. Also, a confidential

relationship existed in that the record is clear that Frank Ashton was the brother and brother-in-law of the Appellants Wilford and Virginia M. Ashton. Further the Respondent Woodruff Ashton is a brother and brother-in-law of Frank, Wilford and Virginia M. Ashton. There can be no question as to a confidential relationship.

In addition and as further support for the position of the Respondent the record clearly shows, without being controverted, that for a period of some fourteen years the Respondent went on the property, cultivated it, improved it, and paid his share of the property tax and water assessments. In addition at one time Woodruff and Wilford entered into an agreement dividing the property. The record is uncontroverted as to this agreement and is further uncontroverted that the two brothers marked their division by a readily identifiable monument.

The cases are legion wherein the Utah Supreme Court has stated that it will not lightly over turn a jury verdict. In addition the Utah Supreme Court stated in the MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF HOCK, cited above as follows:

"In our review of an equity case such as this, we will not disturb the trial courts findings of facts unless the evidence clearly preponderates against it. We apply this standard of review in cases involving trusts which arise by operation of law and in which the standard of proof is one of clear and convincing evidence." (see HOCK above at page 1114; see also JEWELL v. HORNER, 12 Utah 2d 328, 366 P. 2d 596 (1961).

It is clear that the Plaintiff has met his burden of proof and the Appellants must fail in their claim that he hasn't.

POINT II: THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN APPLYING THE
CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST AGAINST VIRGINIA M. ASHTON.

In point II of their argument the Appellants are ap-
pealing claiming that even if the Court were to find a Constructive Trust
against Appellant Wilford Ashton that it could not find a Con-
structive Trust against Appellant Virginia M. Ashton as there is
no evidence that she made any agreement with the decedent and
transferor Frank Ashton. This premise does not conform to Utah
law as set forth in the case of HAWKINS vs. PERRY (Utah 1953)
253 P. 2d 372. In the Hawkins case, Hawkins, then a boy of six-
teen, gave his Uncle Alfred T. Perry money to purchase a home
Perry's name with the understanding that as soon as Hawkins
reached the age of majority Perry would convey the home to
Hawkins. Title to the home was taken in the name of Perry and
wife Lorene. Subsequent thereto Alfred and Lorene Perry ter-
minated their marriage by divorce and Lorene was awarded the
subject home. Hawkins then sued Lorene to get the home back
alleging Constructive Trust. Lorene defended on the basis that
she was not a party to her husbands agreement with Hawkins and
therefore was not bound by it. Justice Crockett in speaking for
the Utah Supreme Court said in part as follows:

"Any title which Lorene Perry could have acquired in
this property, either by being named joint tenant pur-
chaser in the contract or by the divorce decree awarding
her Perry's interest must be derived through him. Thus
his acts in connection with the acquisition of the prop-
erty are binding on her; she can not reap the benefit of
the favorable aspects of his conduct without being bound
ed by that which is unfavorable." (See Hawkins at page

Justice Crockett went on to state briefly the position of the Utah Court regarding Constructive Trust.

Equity imposes a constructive trust to prevent one from unjustly profiting through fraud or the violation of a duty imposed under a fiduciary or confidential relationship. The Utah decision of Chadwick v. Arnold (34 Utah 84, 95 P. 572) declares "****that a trust ex maleficio (constructive trust) arises whenever a person acquired the legal title to property of another by means of an intentional false or fraudulent verbal promise to hold the same for a certain purpose, and, having thus obtained the title, retains and claims the property as his own." It is now well recognized that actual fraud is not necessary, but may be presumed where there is a relationship of confidence between the parties to a transaction and there are "other circumstances tending to show that some advantage had been taken by the dominant party with a consequent abuse of confidence."

In Haws v. Jensen 209 P. 2d 229, he wrote:

" A constructive trust will be imposed even though at the time of the transfer the transferee intended to perform the agreement, and even though he was not guilty of undue influence in procuring the conveyance. The abuse of the confidential relation consists merely in the failure of the transferee to perform his promise."

To this may be added, the confidential relation can also be abused by the promisor's allowing himself to get into a position where he cannot perform his promise.

It is clear that the position of Appellant Virginia M. Ashton is the same as that of her husband Wilford and under the doctrine of the Hawkins case the Constructive Trust must be applied against her as well as her husband.

POINT III: THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW APPELLANTS' EXPERT WITNESS TO TESTIFY.

An examination of the transcript of the trial proceedings commencing at page 403 of the transcript will show that Appellants called as Appellants' witness Mr. Lowry Snow, an attorney and abstractor. Respondent's attorney stipulated as to Mr. Snow's

qualifications as an expert attorney and abstractor. After it became apparent the direction of a line of questioning the Appellants were taking with Mr. Snow, the Court, sua sponte, refused to allow counsel to continue his line of questioning. Counsel for Appellants therefore asked for permission to ask for a profer of proof outside the hearing of the jury, which request was granted. As counsel for Respondent understands the profer of proof, Appellants were attempting to ask the witness to give his expert testimony as to the effects of the severance of a joint tenancy. Apparently the theory of Appellants' counsel was that Wilford Ashton, by agreeing to the conditions imposed by Frank Ashton in making the subject conveyance had "severed" the joint tenancy prior to its creation and therefore Virginia M. Ashton, as a joint tenant, could not be bound by any agreement Wilford had made. Because of the Court's refusal to allow that line of testimony before the jury the Appellants claim reversible error.

It is the position of the Respondent that the Court acted correctly in refusing Mr. Snow's testimony as the same was irrelevant and immaterial in view of the fact that (1) you can not sever a joint tenancy prior to its creation and (2) the prevailing Utah law as enunciated in Hawkins v. Perry et al, supra, renders such testimony irrelevant in any event. Under the law as set forth in Hawkins, Virginia Ashton is bound by the acts and promises of Wilford.

It is respectfully submitted to the Court that the trial court's refusal to allow the testimony of Mr. Snow does not

constitute reversible error and in fact constitutes no error at all.